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Section 1: FDIC Deposit Insurance Rules 

FDIC: Final Rule Relating to False Advertising, Misrepresentations 
About Insured Status, and Misuse of the FDIC’s Name or Logo (May 
17, 2022) 

Link 

https://www.fdic.gov/news/board-matters/2022/2022-05-17-notice-dis-a-fr.pdf 

Text 

Summary 

The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation has adopted a final rule to implement section 
18(a)(4) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act. The final rule establishes the process by which the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation will identify and investigate conduct that may violate 
section 18(a)(4) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, the standards under which such conduct 
will be evaluated, and the procedures which the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation will follow 
when formally and informally enforcing the provisions of section 18(a)(4) of the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Act. 

Dates 

The rule is effective on July 5, 2022. 

Background 

The FDIC has steadfastly and proactively sought to protect consumers by limiting the use of 
the FDIC’s name, seal, and logo to insured depository institutions (IDIs) and preventing false and 
misleading representations about the manner and extent of FDIC deposit insurance (deposit 
insurance). Section 18(a)(4) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 U.S.C. 1828(a)(4) (Section 
18(a)(4)), prohibits any person from engaging in false advertising by misusing the name or logo of 
the FDIC or from making knowing misrepresentations about the existence of or the extent or 
manner of deposit insurance. Section 18(a)(4) provides the FDIC independent authority to 
investigate and take administrative enforcement actions, including the power to issue cease and 
desist orders and impose civil money penalties, against any person who misuses the FDIC name 
or logo or makes misrepresentations about deposit insurance. 

Although the FDIC has broad statutory authority in this area, the FDIC has never issued 
specific regulations regarding false representations related to deposit insurance or the misuse of 
the FDIC’s name or logo. Recently, the FDIC has observed an increasing number of instances 
where financial service providers or other entities or individuals have misused the FDIC’s name 
or logo or have made false or misleading representations about deposit insurance. Therefore, the 

https://www.fdic.gov/news/board-matters/2022/2022-05-17-notice-dis-a-fr.pdf


Community Bankers for Compliance - FDIC Regulations  

Young & Associates, Inc. • www.younginc.com • Page 2 

FDIC adopts the following rule, which provides certain procedures the FDIC will follow for 
identifying, investigating, and taking formal and informal action to address potential violations 
of Section 18(a)(4). The rule also provides for an established point-of-contact responsible for 
receiving complaints about potential violations of Section 18(a)(4) and responding to inquiries 
about deposit insurance coverage representations. 

Requests for Information, the Proposed Rule, and Comments Received 

[Omitted.] 

The Final Rule 

For the reasons stated above, the final rule adopts the proposed rule with certain limited 
changes. The FDIC is amending section 328.101 to add a definition for the terms, “Consumer,” to 
identify those intended to be protected under the regulation. The FDIC is also amending section 
328.102(b)(3)(ii), adding a new section 328.102(b)(5), and redesignating section 328.102(b)(5) as 
328.102(b)(6) in order to clarify how marketing related to deposit networks can comply with the 
regulation. 

Additionally, the FDIC is adding a new section 328.109 to make clear that, in accordance with 
the plain language of Section 18(a), the existence of the FDIC’s authority to pursue enforcement 
actions under this subpart does not impact the authority of any other state or federal agency or 
individual to pursue any other action authorized by any law. The FDIC is also making a minor, 
technical amendment to section 328.107 to provide clarity regarding the General Counsel’s 
delegated authority to initiate and prosecute formal enforcement actions under the final rule. 

Finally, the FDIC is redesignating the existing regulations in part 328 as subpart A to part 
328, entitled “Advertisement of Membership,” and is establishing a new subpart B to part 328, 
entitled “False Advertising, Misrepresentation of Insured Status, and Misuse of the FDIC’s Name 
or Logo” containing the new regulations described herein. Finally, the FDIC is making technical 
amendments to section 328.3, limiting the applicability of definitions in that section to subpart A 
of part 328, and not to part 328, generally. 

Expected Effects 

The final rule will primarily affect non-bank entities and individuals who are potentially 
misusing the FDIC’s name or logo or are making misrepresentations about deposit insurance. The 
FDIC currently insures 4,960 depository institutions that could also be affected; however, in 
practice, the final rule will primarily affect non-bank entities and private individuals. Since the 
adoption of Section 18(a)(4) in 2008, the FDIC has issued only one formal enforcement order 
against a non-bank entity for misuse of the FDIC’s name or logo or for misrepresentations or false 
advertising in relation to deposit insurance. However, between January 1, 2019, and December 
31, 2020, the FDIC reached informal resolutions regarding the potential misuse of the FDIC’s 
name or logo and/or misrepresentations relation to deposit insurance in at least 165 instances. 
Based on this experience, the FDIC estimates that the final rule will apply to relatively few formal 
enforcement actions and conservatively estimates that it will affect fewer than 165 informal 
resolutions with non-bank entities and individuals each year. 

As discussed previously, the final rule will clarify the FDIC’s procedures for evaluating 
potential violations of Section 18(a)(4). The final rule will generally be consistent with existing 
practices used by the FDIC with respect to these matters. Further the rule will not affect the 
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application of related criminal prohibitions under 18 U.S.C. § 709. Therefore, the FDIC believes 
that the final rule is unlikely to have any significant effect on formal and informal enforcement of 
the Section 18(a)(4) prohibitions. 

The final rule could pose some indirect disclosure costs on non-depository entities. The rule’s 
description of “material omission” provides that a statement that a product is insured or 
guaranteed by the FDIC violates the rule if non-depository entities who make representations 
about deposit insurance fail to directly or indirectly identify the IDIs into which consumers’ 
deposits may be placed. As described above, a non-bank entity may comply with this provision by 
publicly disclosing the name(s) of all IDI(s) with which the entity has existing direct or indirect 
business relationships for the placement of deposits and into which consumers’ deposits may be 
placed. If the non-bank entity places deposits through a deposit network, it may publicly disclose 
the name(s) of the IDIs that are part of the deposit network. Such a list could be provided in 
writing or through a hyperlink to a website containing this information. Such a website could be 
maintained by the non-bank entity or the deposit network. In turn, the rule could result in deposit 
networks making publicly available lists of the IDIs with which they have existing business 
relationships for the placement of deposits, to the degree those entities are not already doing so. 
In either case, the FDIC believes that any such costs are likely to be relatively small. 

The FDIC believes that the final rule will benefit FDIC-insured institutions and members of 
the public by further clarifying what constitutes a violation of Section 18(a)(4), by creating a 
process by which institutions and members of the public can report suspected instances of false 
advertising, misuse, or misrepresentation regarding deposit insurance, and by establishing clear 
procedures by which the FDIC will investigate and, where necessary, formally and informally 
resolve potential violations of Section 18(a)(4). Specifically, the added transparency on the FDIC’s 
processes for investigating potential instances of misuse or misrepresentation and, if needed, 
resolution are expected to benefit the parties involved by establishing a common understanding 
of those processes. 

Alternatives 

The FDIC has considered alternatives to the rule but believes that adopting subpart B to Part 
328 represents the most appropriate option. As discussed previously, Section 18(a)(4) establishes 
prohibitions against the misuse of the FDIC’s name or logo and prohibits misrepresentations and 
false advertising in relation to deposit insurance. The FDIC considered the status quo alternative 
of not adopting a regulation. However, the FDIC believes that the final rule is the most 
appropriate action because it provides clarity for the public regarding what constitutes misuse of 
FDIC name or logo or misrepresentation with respect to FDIC insurance, how the FDIC will 
identify and investigate suspected instances of misuse or misrepresentation, and the process by 
which the FDIC will pursue formal or informal resolution of instances of misuse or 
misrepresentation. 
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Section 2: FDIC Subpart A –  
Advertisement of Membership 

Formal Section Title and Number 

Part 328 – Advertisement of Membership, False Advertising, Misrepresentation of Insured 
Status and Misuse of the FDIC’S Name or Logo 

Actual Section Number: 12 C.F.R. § 328 

Manual Comments 

Due to the nature of this material, we have chosen not to include any regulatory discussion. 
Also, this rule does not contain any regulatory commentary 

§ 328.0 Scope. 

Part 328 describes the official sign of the FDIC and prescribes its use by insured depository institutions. 
It also prescribes the official advertising statement insured depository institutions must include in their 
advertisements. For purposes of part 328, the term “insured depository institution” includes insured 
branches of a foreign depository institution. Part 328 does not apply to non-insured offices or branches 
of insured depository institutions located in foreign countries.  

§ 328.1 Official sign. 

(a) The official sign referred to in this part shall be 7″ by 3″ in size, with black lettering and gold 
background, and of the following design:  

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/part-328
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.0
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.1
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(b) The “symbol” of the Corporation, as used in this part, shall be that portion of the official sign 
consisting of “FDIC” and the two lines of smaller type above and below “FDIC.” 

§ 328.2 Display and procurement of official sign. 

(a) Display of official sign. Each insured depository institution shall continuously display the official 
sign at each station or window where insured deposits are usually and normally received in the 
depository institution's principal place of business and in all its branches.  

(1) Other locations 

(i) Within the institution. In addition to locations where display of the official sign is required 
under this § 328.2(a), an insured depository institution may display the official sign in other 
locations at the institution.  

(ii) Other facilities. An insured depository institution may display the official sign on or at 
Remote Service Facilities. If an insured depository institution displays the official sign at a 
Remote Service Facility, and if there are any noninsured institutions that share in the Remote 
Service Facility, any insured depository institution that displays the official sign must clearly 
show that the sign refers only to a designated insured depository institution(s). As used in 
this part, the term “Remote Service Facility” includes any automated teller machine, cash 
dispensing machine, point-of-sale terminal, or other remote electronic facility where 
deposits are received.  

(2) Varied signs. Instead of displaying the official sign, an insured depository institution may 
display signs that vary from the official sign in size, color, or material at any location where 
display of the official sign is required or permitted under this § 328.2(a). However, any such 
varied sign that is displayed in locations where display of the official sign is required under this 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.2
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.2#p-328.2(a)
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.2#p-328.2(a)
https://images.federalregister.gov/ER13AU10.000/large.png
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§ 328.2(a) must not be smaller in size than the official sign and must have the same color for the 
text and symbols.  

(3) Newly insured institutions. A depository institution shall display the official sign no later than 
its twenty-first day of operation as an insured depository institution, unless the institution 
promptly requested the official sign from the Corporation, but did not receive it before that date.  

(b) Procuring official sign. An insured depository institution may procure the official sign from the 
Corporation for official use at no charge. Information on obtaining the official sign is posted on the 
FDIC's internet Web site, http://www.fdic.gov. Alternatively, insured depository institutions may, 
at their expense, procure from commercial suppliers signs that vary from the official sign in size, 
color, or material. Any insured depository institution which has promptly submitted a written 
request for an official sign to the Corporation shall not be deemed to have violated this § 328.2 by 
failing to display the official sign, unless the insured depository institution fails to display the 
official sign after receipt thereof.  

(c) Required changes in sign. The Corporation may require any insured depository institution, upon 
at least thirty (30) days' written notice, to change the wording of the official sign in a manner deemed 
necessary for the protection of depositors or others.  

§ 328.3 Official advertising statement requirements. 

(a) Advertisement defined. The term “advertisement,” as used in this subpart, shall mean a commercial 
message, in any medium, that is designed to attract public attention or patronage to a product or 
business.  

(b) Official advertising statement. The official advertising statement shall be in substance as follows: 
“Member of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.”  

(1) Optional short title and symbol. The short title “Member of FDIC” or “Member FDIC,” or a 
reproduction of the symbol of the Corporation (as described in § 328.1(b)), may be used by 
insured depository institutions at their option as the official advertising statement.  

(2) Size and print. The official advertising statement shall be of such size and print to be clearly 
legible. If the symbol of the Corporation is used as the official advertising statement, and the 
symbol must be reduced to such proportions that the two lines of smaller type above and below 
“FDIC” are indistinct and illegible, those lines of smaller type may be blocked out or dropped.  

(c) Use of official advertising statement in advertisements -  

(1) General requirement. Except as provided in § 328.3(d), each insured depository institution 
shall include the official advertising statement prescribed in § 328.3(b) in all advertisements that 
either promote deposit products and services or promote non-specific banking products and 
services offered by the institution. For purposes of this § 328.3, an advertisement promotes non-
specific banking products and services if it includes the name of the insured depository 
institution but does not list or describe particular products or services offered by the institution. 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.2#p-328.2(a)
http://www.fdic.gov/
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.2
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.3
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.1#p-328.1(b)
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.3#p-328.3(d)
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.3#p-328.3(b)
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.3
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An example of such an advertisement would be, “Anytown Bank, offering a full range of 
banking services.”  

(2) Foreign depository institutions. When a foreign depository institution has both insured and 
noninsured U.S. branches, the depository institution must also identify which branches are 
insured and which branches are not insured in all of its advertisements requiring use of the 
official advertising statement.  

(3) Newly insured institutions. A depository institution shall include the official advertising 
statement in its advertisements no later than its twenty-first day of operation as an insured 
depository institution.  

(d) Types of advertisements which do not require the official advertising statement. The following 
types of advertisements do not require use of the official advertising statement:  

(1) Statements of condition and reports of condition of an insured depository institution which are 
required to be published by State or Federal law;  

(2) Insured depository institution supplies such as stationery (except when used for circular letters), 
envelopes, deposit slips, checks, drafts, signature cards, deposit passbooks, certificates of 
deposit, etc.;  

(3) Signs or plates in the insured depository institution offices or attached to the building or 
buildings in which such offices are located;  

(4) Listings in directories;  

(5) Advertisements not setting forth the name of the insured depository institution;  

(6) Entries in a depository institution directory, provided the name of the insured depository 
institution is listed on any page in the directory with a symbol or other descriptive matter 
indicating it is a member of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation;  

(7) Joint or group advertisements of depository institution services where the names of insured 
depository institutions and noninsured institutions are listed and form a part of such 
advertisements;  

(8) Advertisements by radio or television, other than display advertisements, which do not exceed 
thirty (30) seconds in time;  

(9) Advertisements which are of the type or character that make it impractical to include the official 
advertising statement, including, but not limited to, promotional items such as calendars, 
matchbooks, pens, pencils, and key chains; and  

(10) Advertisements which contain a statement to the effect that the depository institution is a 
member of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or that the depository institution is 
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or that its deposits or depositors are 
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation to at least $100,000 for each depositor.  
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(e) Restrictions on using the official advertising statement when advertising non-deposit products 

(1) Definitions 

(i) Non-deposit product. As used in this subpart, the term “non-deposit product” shall include, 
but is not limited to, insurance products, annuities, mutual funds, and securities. For 
purposes of this definition, a credit product is not a non-deposit product.  

(ii) Hybrid product. As used in this subpart, the term “hybrid product” shall mean a product or 
service that has both deposit product features and non-deposit product features. A sweep 
account is an example of a hybrid product.  

(2) Non-deposit product advertisements. Except as provided in § 328.3(e)(4), an insured 
depository institution shall not include the official advertising statement, or any other statement 
or symbol which implies or suggests the existence of Federal deposit insurance, in any 
advertisement relating solely to non-deposit products.  

(3) Hybrid product advertisements. Except as provided in § 328.3(e)(4), an insured depository 
institution shall not include the official advertising statement, or any other statement or symbol 
which implies or suggests the existence of federal deposit insurance, in any advertisement 
relating solely to hybrid products.  

(4) Mixed advertisements. In advertisements containing information about both insured deposit 
products and non-deposit products or hybrid products, an insured depository institution shall 
clearly segregate the official advertising statement or any similar statement from that portion of 
the advertisement that relates to the non-deposit products.  

(f) Official advertising statement in non-English language. The non-English equivalent of the 
official advertising statement may be used in any advertisement, provided that the translation has 
had the prior written approval of the Corporation.  

§ 328.4 Prohibition against receiving deposits at same teller station 
or window as noninsured institution. 

(a) Prohibition. An insured depository institution may not receive deposits at any teller station or 
window where any noninsured institution receives deposits or similar liabilities.  

(b) Exception. This § 328.4 does not apply to deposits received at a Remote Service Facility.  

 

§§ 328.5-328.99 [Reserved]

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.3#p-328.3(e)(4)
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.3#p-328.3(e)(4)
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.4
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.4
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/section-328.4
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Section 3: FDIC Subpart B – False Advertising, 
Misrepresentation, Misuse 

Formal Section Title and Number 

Subpart B -  False Advertising, Misrepresentation of Insured Status, and Misuse of the FDIC’s 
Name or Logo 

Actual Section Number: 12 C.F.R. § 328 

§ 328.100 - Scope 

This Subpart applies to any person who: (1) falsely represents, expressly or by implication, that 
any deposit liability, obligation, certificate, or share is FDIC-insured by using the FDIC’s name or 
logo; (2) knowingly misrepresents, expressly or by implication, that any deposit liability, 
obligation, certificate, or share is insured by the FDIC if such an item is not so insured; (3) 
knowingly misrepresents, expressly or by implication, the extent to which or the manner in which 
any deposit liability, obligation, certificate, or share is insured by the FDIC, if such an item is not 
insured to the extent or manner represented; or (4) aids or abets another in any of the foregoing. 

§ 328.101 – Definitions 

For purposes of this subpart: 

(a) Advertisement means a commercial message, in any medium, that is designed to attract 
public attention or patronage to a product, business, or service. 

(b) Appropriate Federal Banking Agency has the meaning set forth in section 3(q) of the FDI 
Act (12 U.S.C. 1813(q)). 

(c) Consumer means any current or potential depositor, including natural persons, organizations, 
corporate entities, and governmental bodies. 

(d) FDI Act means the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 U.S.C. 1811 et seq. 

(e) FDIC means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. 

(f) FDIC-Associated Images means the Seal of the FDIC, alone or within the letter C of the term 
FDIC; the Official Sign and Symbol of the FDIC, as set forth in 12 CFR 328.1; the Official 
Advertising Statement, as set forth in 12 CFR 328.3(b); any similar images; and any other 
signs and symbols that may represent or imply that any deposit, liability, obligation certificate, 
or share is insured or guaranteed in whole or in part by the FDIC. 

(g) FDIC-Associated Terms means the abbreviation “FDIC,” and the following words or phrases: 
“Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation,” “Federal Deposit,” “Federal Deposit Insurance,” 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-12/part-328
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“FDIC-insured,” “FDIC insurance,” “insured by FDIC,” “member FDIC;” any similar words or 
phrases; or any other terms that may represent or imply that any deposit, liability, obligation 
certificate, or share is insured or guaranteed by the FDIC. 

(h) Federal Banking Agency has the meaning set forth in section 3(z) of the FDIC (12 U.S.C. 
1813(z)). 

(i) General Counsel means the General Counsel of the FDIC or his or her designee. 

(j) Hybrid Product has the same meaning as set forth under 12 CFR 328.3(e)(1)(ii). 

(k) Institution-Affiliated Party (IAP) has the same meaning as set forth under section 3(u) of 
the FDI Act, 12 U.S.C. 1813(u). 

(l) Insured Deposit has the same meaning as set forth under section 3(m) of the FDI Act, 12 
U.S.C. 1813(m). 

(m) Insured Depository Institution has the same meaning as set forth under section 3(c)(2) of 
the FDI Act, 12 U.S.C. 1813(c)(2). 

(n) Non-Deposit Product has the same meaning as set forth under 12 CFR 328.3(e)(1)(i). 

(o) Person means a natural person, sole proprietor, partnership, corporation, unincorporated 
association, trust, joint venture, pool, syndicate, agency or other entity, association, or 
organization, including a Regulated Institution as defined in paragraph (p) of this section. 

(p) Regulated Institution means any institution for which the FDIC, the Office of the 
Comptroller of the Currency, or the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System is the 
“appropriate Federal banking agency” under section 3(q) of the FDI Act, 12 U.S.C. 1813(q). 

(q) Third-Party Publisher means any party that publishes, places, distributes, or circulates 
advertising or marketing materials, regardless of the platform or media used for distribution, 
containing FDIC-Associated Images, FDIC-Associated Terms, or other claims regarding FDIC 
insurance or guarantees. Third-Party Publishers include, but are not limited to publishers and 
distributors of written, visual, or print advertising; broadcasters of video or audio 
advertisements; telemarketers; internet or web-based distributors, including internet service 
providers, and email marketers; and direct mail marketers and distributors. 

(r) Uninsured Financial Product means any Non-Deposit Product, Hybrid-Product, 
investment, security, obligation, certificate, share, or financial product other than an “Insured 
Deposit” as defined in paragraph (l) of this section. 

§ 328.102 – Prohibition 

Use of the FDIC Name or Logo 

(1) No person may represent or imply that any Uninsured Financial Product is insured or 
guaranteed by the FDIC by using FDIC-Associated Terms as part of any business name or 
firm name of any person; 

(2) No person may represent or imply that any Uninsured Financial Product is insured or 
guaranteed by the FDIC by using FDIC-Associated Terms or by using FDIC-Associated Images 
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as part of an Advertisement, solicitation, or other publication or dissemination. 

(3) This subsection applies, but is not limited, to: 

(i) An Advertisement for any Uninsured Financial Product that features or includes one or 
more FDIC-Associated Terms or FDIC-Associated Images, without a clear, conspicuous, 
and prominent disclaimer that the products being offered are not FDIC insured or 
guaranteed; 

(ii) An Advertisement for any Uninsured Financial Product that may be backed or guaranteed 
by an entity other that the FDIC, but features or includes one or more FDIC-Associated 
Terms or FDIC-Associated Images, without a clear, conspicuous, prominent, and accurate 
explanation as to the actual nature and source of the guarantee; 

(iii) An Advertisement for any Non-Deposit Product or Hybrid Product by a Regulated 
Institution that includes any statement or symbol which implies or suggests the existence 
of deposit insurance relating to the Non-Deposit product or Hybrid Product; 

(iv) Publication or dissemination of information, regardless of the media or platform, that 
suggests or implies that the party making the representation is an FDIC-insured 
institution if this is not in fact true. 

(v) Publication or dissemination of information, regardless of the media or platform, that 
suggests or implies that the party making the representation is associated with an FDIC-
insured institution if the nature of the association is not clearly, conspicuously, 
prominently, and accurately described. 

(vi) Publication or dissemination of information, regardless of the media or platform, that 
suggests or implies that the party making the representation is the FDIC or any office, 
division, or subdivision thereof, if this is not in fact true. 

(vii) Publication or dissemination of information, regardless of the media or platform, that 
suggests or implies that the party making the representation is associated with the FDIC 
or any office, division, or subdivision thereof, if the nature of the association is not clearly, 
conspicuously, prominently, and accurately described. 

False or Misleading Representations regarding FDIC Insurance 

(1) No person may knowingly make false or misleading representations about deposit insurance, 
including: 

(i) that any deposit liability, obligation, certificate, or share is insured under this subpart if 
such a deposit is not so insured; 

(ii) the extent to which any deposit liability, obligation, certificate, or share is insured under 
this subpart if such item is not insured to the extent represented; or 

(iii) the manner in which any deposit liability, obligation, certificate, or share is insured under 
this subpart if such item is not insured in the manner represented. 

(2) For the purposes of this subsection, a statement is deemed to be a statement regarding deposit 
insurance, if it: 

(i) includes any FDIC-Associated Images or FDIC-Associated Terms; 

(ii) makes any representation, suggestion, or implication about the existence of FDIC 
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insurance or the extent or manner of coverage; or 

(iii) makes any representation, suggestion, or implication about the existence, extent, or 
effectiveness of any guarantee by FDIC in the event of financial distress by Insured 
Depository Institutions, whether a specific Insured Depository Institution or Insured 
Depository Institutions generally, including but not limited to bank failure, insolvency, or 
receivership of such institutions. 

(3) For the purposes of this subsection, a statement regarding deposit insurance violates this 
section, if: 

(i) the statement contains any material representations which would have the tendency or 
capacity to mislead a reasonable consumer, regardless of whether any such consumer was 
actually misled; or 

(ii) the statement omits material information that would be necessary to prevent a reasonable 
consumer from being misled, regardless of whether any such consumer was actually 
misled. 

(4) Without limitation, a false or misleading representation is deemed to be material if it states, 
suggests, or implies that: 

(i) Uninsured Financial Products are insured or guaranteed by the FDIC; 

(ii) Insured Deposits (whether generally or at a particular Regulated Institution) are not 
insured or guaranteed by the FDIC; 

(iii) the amount of deposit insurance coverage is different (whether greater or less) than 
actually provided under the FDI Act; 

(iv) the circumstances under which deposit insurance may be paid are different than actually 
provided under the FDI Act; 

(v) the requirements to qualify for deposit insurance, or the process by which deposit insurance 
would be paid, are different from what is provided under the FDI Act and its implementing 
regulations, including false or misleading claims related to actions required of consumers 
to qualify for or obtain such insurance; or 

(vi) Regulated Institutions may convert Insured Deposits into another form of liability that is 
not insured, such as unsecured debt or equity. 

(5) Without limitation, a statement regarding deposit insurance will be deemed to omit material 
information if the absence of such information could lead a reasonable consumer to believe any 
of the material misrepresentations set forth in paragraph (b)(4) of this section or could 
otherwise result in a reasonable consumer being unable to understand the extent or manner 
of deposit insurance provided. For example, if a statement is made by a person other than an 
Insured Depository Institution that represents or implies that an advertised product is insured 
or guaranteed by the FDIC, it will be deemed to be a material omission to fail to identify the 
Insured Depository Institution(s) with which the representing party has a direct or indirect 
business relationship for the placement of deposits and into which the consumer’s deposits 
may be placed. 

(6) Without limitation, a representation is deemed to have been knowingly made if the person 
making the representation: 
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(i) has made false or misleading representations regarding deposit insurance; 

(ii) has been advised by the FDIC in an advisory letter, as provided in § 328.106(a) or has been 
advised by another governmental or regulatory authority, including, but not limited to, 
another Federal banking agency, the Federal Trade Commission, the U.S. Department of 
Justice, or a state bank supervisor, that such representations are false or misleading; and 

(iii) thereafter, continues to make these, or substantially similar, representations. 

§ 328.103 – Inquiries and Complaints 

Should any person have reason to believe that anyone is or may be acting in violation of section 
18(a) of the FDI Act (12 U.S.C. 1828(a)) or this subpart, or have questions regarding the accuracy 
of deposit-related representations, such individuals may contact the FDIC at the FDIC 
Information and Support Center, https://ask.fdic.gov/fdicinformationandsupportcenter/s/, or by 
telephone at: 1-877-275-3342 (1- 877-ASK-FDIC). 

§ 328.104 – Investigations of Potential Violations 

(a) The General Counsel has delegated authority to investigate potential violations of section 18(a) 
of the FDI Act (12 U.S.C. 1828(a)) and this subpart. 

(b) Such investigations will be conducted as prescribed under section 10(c) of the FDI Act (12 
U.S.C. 1820(c)) and subpart K of part 308 of the FDIC’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (12 
CFR 308.144- 150). Notwithstanding the general confidentiality provisions of 12 CFR 308.147, 
in cases that may pose a risk of imminent harm to consumers, the FDIC may disclose or 
confirm the existence of an investigation that does not involve an Insured Depository 
Institution or a known IAP thereof. Such disclosure must not disclose any information 
obtained or uncovered during the course of the investigation. 

§ 328.105 – Referral to Appropriate Authority 

(a) If, in connection with the receipt of an inquiry or complaint, or during the course of an 
investigation, informal resolution, or formal enforcement under this subpart: 

(1) the FDIC becomes aware of conduct by a Regulated Institution for which another Federal 
banking agency is the appropriate Federal banking agency or an Institution-Affiliated 
Party of such an institution, that appears to violate section 18(a) of the FDI Act (12 U.S.C. 
1828(a)), the FDIC may recommend that the appropriate Federal banking agency take 
appropriate enforcement action. If the appropriate Federal banking agency does not take 
the recommended action within 30 days, the FDIC may pursue any and all remedies 
available under section 18(a) or the FDI Act (12 U.S.C. 1828(a)) and this subpart; 

(2) the FDIC becomes aware of conduct that the FDIC has reason to believe violates a civil law 
or regulations within the jurisdiction of another regulatory authority, the FDIC may take 
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steps to notify the appropriate authority; and 

(3) the FDIC becomes aware of conduct that the FDIC has reason to believe violates 18 U.S.C. 
709, the FDIC may notify FDIC’s Office of Inspector General for referral to the appropriate 
criminal law enforcement authority. 

(b) To the extent that any records are provided to a regulatory or criminal law enforcement 
authority, as set forth in paragraph (a), of this section, the provision of such records will be 
made in accordance with the requirements of part 309. Where such records were obtained 
during the course of an investigation, informal resolution, or formal enforcement action, the 
General Counsel will be considered the Director of the Corporation’s Division having primary 
authority over records so obtained. 

§ 328.106 – Informal Resolution 

(a) If the FDIC has reason to believe that any person may be misusing an FDIC-associated image 
or FDIC-associated term or otherwise violating § 328.102(a), or may be making false or 
misleading representations regarding deposit insurance in violation of § 328.102(b), the FDIC 
may issue an advisory letter to such a person and/or any person who aids or abets another in 
such conduct, including any Third-Party Publisher. Generally, such an advisory letter will: 

(1) Alert the recipient of advisory letter of the basis for the FDIC’s concerns; 

(2) Request that the person and/or Third-Party Publisher: 

(i) take reasonable steps to prevent any violations of section 18(a) of the FDI Act (12 U.S.C. 
1828(a)) and this subpart; 

(ii) commit in writing to refrain from such violations in the future; and 

(iii) notify the FDIC in writing that the identified concerns have been fully addressed and 
remediated; and 

(3) Offer the person or Third-Party Publisher the opportunity to provide additional 
information, documentation, or justifications to substantiate the representations made or 
otherwise refute the FDIC’s expressed concerns. 

(b) Except in cases where the FDIC has reason to believe that consumers or Insured Depository 
Institutions may suffer harm arising from continued violations, recipients of advisory letters 
described in paragraph (a) of this section, will be provided not less than fifteen (15) days to 
provide the requested commitment, explanation, or justification. 

(c) Where a recipient of an advisory letter described in paragraph (a) of this section, provides the 
FDIC with the requested written commitments within the timeframe specified in the letter, 
and where any required remediation has been verified by FDIC staff, the FDIC will generally 
take no further administrative enforcement against such a party under § 328.107. 

(d) Where a recipient of an advisory letter described in paragraph (a) of this section, fails to 
respond to the letter; fails to make the requested commitments; or fails to provide additional 
information, documentation, or justifications that the FDIC, in its discretion, finds adequate 
to substantiate the representations made or otherwise refute the concerns set forth in the 
advisory letter, the FDIC may pursue all remedies set forth in this subpart. 
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(e) Nothing in this section will prevent the FDIC from commencing a formal enforcement action 
under § 328.107 at any time before or after the issuance of an advisory letter under this section 
if: 

(1) the FDIC has reason to believe that consumers or Insured Depository Institutions may 
suffer harm arising from continued violations; or 

(2) the person to whom such an advisory letter would be sent has previously received a similar 
advisory letter from the FDIC under § 328.106(a). 

§ 328.107 – Formal Enforcement Actions 

(a) Enforcement Authority - For the purpose of enforcing the requirements of Section 18(a)(4) 
of the FDI Act (12 U.S.C. 1818(a)(4)) and this subpart, the General Counsel has delegated 
authority to bring administrative enforcement actions against any person under sections 8(b), 
(c), (d), and (i) of the FDI Act (12 USC 1818(b), 1818(c), 1818(d), and 1818(i)). In the case of 
conduct by a Regulated Institution for which another Federal banking agency is the 
appropriate Federal banking agency or an institution-affiliated party of such an institution, 
the General Counsel may not bring an enforcement action under this subpart unless the FDIC 
has provided the appropriate Federal banking agency with notice as set forth in section 
105(a)(1) of this subpart and the appropriate Federal banking agency failed to take the 
recommended action. 

(b) Venue - Unless the person who is the subject of the enforcement action consents to a different 
location, the venue for an administrative action commenced under Section 18(a)(4) of the FDI 
Act (12 U.S.C. 1818(a)(4)), will be as follows: 

(1) In a case where the person who is the subject of the action is an Insured Depository 
Institution or an IAP of an Insured Depository Institution, in the federal judicial district 
or territory in which the home office of the Insured Depository Institution is located; 

(2) In a case where the person who is the subject of the action is not an Insured Depository 
Institution or an IAP of an Insured Depository Institution, the federal judicial district or 
territory where the person who is the subject of the action resides, if the subject resides in 
the United States. If the subject of the action does not reside in the United States, the 
venue will be where the subject of the action conducts business or the federal judicial 
district for the District of Columbia. 

(3) For the purposes of paragraph (1) of this section, a natural person is deemed to reside in 
the federal judicial district where the natural person is domiciled. A person other than a 
natural person is deemed to reside in the federal judicial district where it is headquartered 
or has its principal place of business. 

(c) Rules of Practice and Procedure. All actions brought and maintained under this section 
will be subject to the FDIC’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, Subparts A - C of Part 308 (12 
CFR 308.1 – 308.109) 
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§ 328.108 – Appeals Process 

(a) A person who is the subject of a final order issued after an administrative action commenced 
pursuant to this subpart may obtain judicial review of such order in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in section 8(h)(2) of the FDI Act (12 U.S.C. 1818(h)(2)). 

(b) Petitions for review under this section may be filed in the court of appeals for the circuit where 
the hearing was held or the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit. 

§ 328.109 – Other Actions Preserved 

No provision of this subpart shall be construed as barring any action otherwise available, under 
the laws or regulations of the United States or any state, to any federal or state agency or person. 
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Section 4: CFPB: Consumer Financial Protection 
Circular 2022-02 (May 17, 2022) 

Note 

This was included in the third quarter 2022 CBC.  As it is relevant, we have chosen to repeat 
it here. 

Link 

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/compliance/circulars/circular-2022-02-deception-
representations-involving-the-fdics-name-or-logo-or-deposit-insurance/ 

Text 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) released an enforcement memorandum 
today that addresses prohibited practices on claims about Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
(FDIC) insurance. Specifically, firms cannot misuse the name or logo of the FDIC or make 
deceptive representations about deposit insurance. The issue has taken on renewed importance 
with the emergence of financial technologies – such as crypto-assets, including stable coins – and 
the risks posed to consumers if they are lured to these or other financial products or services 
through misrepresentations or false advertising. 

The Consumer Financial Protection Act prohibits deceptive acts and practices, including 
deceptive representations involving the name or logo of the FDIC or deposit insurance, by covered 
firms. Deposit insurance has long been a means to promote confidence in the banking system, and 
misrepresentation of those protections undermines consumer confidence and market competition. 
The most common form of deposit insurance is administered by the FDIC. Currently, the FDIC 
insures deposits at FDIC-insured banks and savings associations up to $250,000 per depositor, 
per FDIC-insured bank, for each account ownership category. 

The Consumer Financial Protection Circular provides guidance to consumer protection 
enforcers that covered firms likely violate the Consumer Financial Protection Act’s prohibition on 
deception if they misuse the name or logo of the FDIC or engage in false advertising or make 
material misrepresentations to the public about deposit insurance, regardless of whether such 
conduct (including the misrepresentation of insured status) is engaged in knowingly. The 
Consumer Financial Protection Act is enforced by the CFPB, banking regulators, and the states. 

Specifically, the Circular emphasizes that: 

 Misrepresenting the FDIC logo or name will typically be a material 
misrepresentation. Material misrepresentations are deceptive practices in violation of 
the Consumer Financial Protection Act. Representations made by covered firms to 

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/compliance/circulars/circular-2022-02-deception-representations-involving-the-fdics-name-or-logo-or-deposit-insurance/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/compliance/circulars/circular-2022-02-deception-representations-involving-the-fdics-name-or-logo-or-deposit-insurance/
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consumers about FDIC insurance will typically be material. The misuse of the name or 
logo of the FDIC or engagement in false advertising or making misrepresentations to 
consumers about deposit insurance, regardless of whether such conduct is engaged in 
knowingly, is likely deceptive. 

 Misrepresentation or misuse of the FDIC name or logo harms customers and puts 
them at significant risk of unexpected losses. Customers can be at risk of loss if they 
discover their assets are not insured during a time of financial distress. Because of their 
relatively recent entrance into the consumer marketplace, emerging financial products and 
services--such as digital assets, including crypto-assets--may present particularly acute 
risks to consumers. Claims that financial products or services are “regulated” by the FDIC 
or “insured” or “eligible for” FDIC insurance are likely deceptive if those claims expressly 
or implicitly indicate that the product or service is FDIC-insured when that is not in fact 
the case. 

 Misuse of the FDIC name or logo harms honest companies. A covered firm 
deceptively advertising that its products or services are FDIC-insured may convince 
individuals to purchase that firm’s products or services when the individuals may have 
otherwise selected similar products or services from one of the firm’s competitors engaged 
in honest advertising and marketing. 

The Consumer Financial Protection Circular was issued in connection with the FDIC’s 
adoption of a regulation implementing a statutory provision that prohibits any person or 
organization from engaging in false advertising or misusing the name or logo of the FDIC and 
from making knowing misrepresentations about the extent or manner of FDIC deposit insurance. 
The CFPB will exercise its authorities to ensure the public is protected from risks and harms that 
arise when firms deceptively use the FDIC logo or name or make deceptive misrepresentations 
about deposit insurance, regardless of whether those misrepresentations are made knowingly. 
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Section 5: Small Entity Compliance Guide related to 
Simplification of Deposit Insurance Rules for Trust 

and Mortgage Servicing Accounts (May 18, 2022) 

Note 

This was included in the third quarter 2022 CBC.  As it is relevant, we have chosen to repeat 
it here. 

Link 

https://www.fdic.gov/news/financial-institution-letters/2022/fil22023a.pdf 

Text 

Summary 

On January 28, 2022, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) published a final rule 
to amend the deposit insurance regulations for trust accounts and mortgage servicing accounts. 
The changes are intended to make the deposit insurance rules easier to understand for depositors 
and bankers, facilitate more timely insurance determinations for trust accounts in the event of a 
bank failure, and enhance consistency of insurance coverage for mortgage servicing account 
deposits. The final rule will take effect on April 1, 2024, providing depositors and banks more than 
two years to prepare for the changes in coverage. 

The FDIC is adding a Small Entity Compliance Guide to its website to assist insured 
depository institutions and community banking organizations in understanding and preparing for 
the changes in deposit insurance coverage. 

Statement of Applicability: The contents of, and material referenced in, this FIL apply to 
all FDIC-insured financial institutions. 

Highlights 

• The FDIC is updating its Banker Resources Guide Deposit Insurance Page with the Small 
Entity Compliance Guide (Community Bank Information) to promote understanding of the 
regulations. 

• The final rule amends the deposit insurance regulations by merging the revocable and 
irrevocable trusts categories into one category. 

• The final rule amends the regulation to expand the current per-borrower coverage of up to 

https://www.fdic.gov/news/financial-institution-letters/2022/fil22023a.pdf
https://www.fdic.gov/news/financial-institution-letters/2022/fil22023a.pdf
https://www.fdic.gov/resources/bankers/
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$250,000 to include any funds paid into the account to satisfy the principal and interest 
obligation of the mortgagors to the lender. 

• Some depositors within excess of $1.25 million in trusts deposits at a particular IDI may 
want to make changes given the new coverage limits that take effect on April 1, 2024. 

 
 

Small Entity Compliance Guide 
Simplification of Deposit Insurance Rules 

12 CFR Part 330 

Introduction 

This guide is intended to help insured depository institutions (IDIs), including community 
banking organizations, and other interested parties understand the FDIC’s recently published 
rule entitled “Simplification of Deposit Insurance Rules,” which prospectively amends the deposit 
insurance rules governing certain types of trust accounts and mortgage servicing accounts. This 
guide addresses the trust account and mortgage servicing account rules as they will be 
implemented beginning on April 1, 2024. This guide does not have the effect of law or regulation. 
In addition to this guide, IDIs and other interested parties should review the FDIC’s rule, 
published in the Federal Register on January 28, 2022, at 87 FR 4455, with the effective date of 
April 1, 2024. 

Applicable Statutes 

The FDI Act establishes the parameters of deposit insurance coverage, and provides coverage 
up to the standard maximum deposit insurance amount, currently $250,000, for each deposit 
“maintained by a depositor in the same capacity and the same right.” 12 U.S.C. § 1821(a)(1)(C) 
and (E); 12 C.F.R. §330.3(a). Part 330 of the Code of Federal Regulations implements the FDI 
Act’s deposit insurance provisions by defining the terms necessary to afford coverage under the 
FDI Act and providing rules for the recognition of deposit ownership in various circumstances. 
These rights and capacities are commonly known as insurance categories and have been defined 
through statutes and regulations. 12 C.F.R. §330.3(a). The final rule affects the coverage rules for 
the revocable trust, irrevocable trust, and mortgage servicing account categories currently found 
in 12 C.F.R. §§ 330.10, 330.13, and 330.7(d), respectively. The changes to the trust rules are 
inapplicable to trusts that have an IDI as trustee. 12 C.F.R. § 330.12. 

Overview of Changes for Certain Types of Trust Deposits 

The FDIC is simplifying its regulations governing deposit insurance coverage for certain types 
of deposits held in connection with trusts to make the regulations easier for depositors and 
bankers to understand, and to promote more timely deposit insurance determinations in the event 
of an IDI’s failure. The final rule amends the deposit insurance regulations by merging the 
revocable trust and irrevocable trust categories, currently found in § 330.10 and § 330.13, 
respectively, into one category, “trust accounts,” which will be codified under § 330.10. Under the 
final rule, coverage for deposits in the trust accounts category is determined using a simple 
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calculation. The calculation is the same calculation that the FDIC first adopted in 2008 for 
revocable trust accounts with five or fewer beneficiaries. In particular, the final rule provides that 
certain types of trust deposits will be aggregated by grantor and insured in an amount up to the 
standard maximum deposit insurance amount (currently $250,000) multiplied by the number of 
the trust’s eligible beneficiaries, not to exceed five. This, in effect, limits coverage for a grantor’s 
trust deposits at each IDI to a total of $1,250,000 in this coverage category; in other words, 
maximum coverage of $250,000 per beneficiary for up to five beneficiaries. Under the final rule, 
coverage does not depend upon the allocation of funds among beneficiaries or contingencies in a 
trust agreement. 

In addition to the calculation method described above, the final rule retains two other features 
previously used in the revocable trust deposit insurance calculation under § 330.10: (1) eligible 
beneficiaries and (2) future trusts. First, the definition of eligible beneficiary includes natural 
persons, charitable organizations, and non-profit entities recognized as such under the IRS Code 
of 1986. This definition was previously used in the revocable trust category, but not in the 
irrevocable trust category; it is being retained unaltered in the combined category. Second, future 
trusts are not eligible beneficiaries, but rather are viewed by the FDIC as a mechanism for 
disbursement of the funds. Thus, if a future trust is a beneficiary of a trust under the new rule, 
the FDIC will look through that entity to its beneficiaries to determine if those beneficiaries are 
eligible and determine how many exist. If the beneficiaries of the existing and future trusts 
overlap, each will be counted as a single eligible beneficiary. 

Overview of Changes for Mortgage Servicing Accounts 

The deposit insurance regulations include a specific rule for deposits maintained by mortgage 
servicers. 

The final rule amends the regulation to expand the current per-borrower coverage of up to 
$250,000 to include any funds paid into the account to satisfy the principal and interest obligation 
of the mortgagors to the lender, regardless of the origin of the funds. This extends per-borrower 
coverage to funds paid into the account by parties other than the borrower, including servicers, as 
long as the funds are used to satisfy mortgagors’ principal and interest obligations to the lender. 
The changes made by the final rule will provide consistent treatment for all mortgage servicing 
account balances held to satisfy principal and interest obligations to a lender and will address an 
aspect of servicing arrangements that was not previously covered by the mortgage servicing rule. 

Effect on Small Entities 

The forthcoming changes in coverage for revocable trust deposits currently insured under § 
330.10, irrevocable trust deposits currently insured under § 330.13, and mortgage servicing 
accounts do not require any action on the part of IDIs or depositors. Some depositors, namely those 
with in excess of $1.25 million in trust deposits at a particular IDI, may want to review their 
coverage and make changes to either their trust agreements or trust accounts given the new 
coverage limits that take effect on April 1, 2024. 

One comment to the proposed rule suggested that banks would conduct outreach to affected 
depositors prior to the effective date of the final rule. While affected depositor outreach is not 
required, IDIs that choose to conduct outreach may wish to utilize the following methodology: (1) 
aggregate trust accounts that would be insured in this new combined category of insurance, both 
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revocable (formal or informal, including payable-on-death accounts) and irrevocable, by grantor, 
(2) review the aggregate account balances held in those aggregated accounts, and (3) determine 
the number of unique, eligible beneficiaries allocable to each of those accounts. If the aggregate 
account balance exceeds $250,000 multiplied by the number of unique, eligible beneficiaries, or 
$1,250,000 total for accounts with five or more beneficiaries, those depositors may wish to review 
their accounts or agreements and make adjustments, based on the new rule. Further, any 
depositor education materials that an IDI maintains will need to be updated to reflect the changes 
in coverage made by the final rule. In addition, the FDIC is planning to update its publications 
and other materials to help educate the industry and depositors on the changes. 

Effective Date 

The final rule takes effect on April 1, 2024. 

Resources 

“Simplification of Deposit Insurance Rules” 87 Fed. Reg. 4455 (January 28, 2022). 

FDIC’s Final Rule to simplify deposit insurance, 87 Fed. Reg. 4455 (January 28, 2022), 
available at https://www.fdic.gov/news/press-releases/2022/pr22004.html 

FIL – 07-2022 Final Rulemaking on Simplification of Deposit Insurance Rules for Trust and 
Mortgage Servicing Accounts (January 21, 2022) available at https://www.fdic.gov/news/financial-
institution-letters/2022/fil22007.html 

https://www.fdic.gov/news/press-releases/2022/pr22004.html
https://www.fdic.gov/news/financial-institution-letters/2022/fil22007.html
https://www.fdic.gov/news/financial-institution-letters/2022/fil22007.html
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